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Castra Legionis VI Ferratae: a building inscription
for the legionary fortress at Udruh near Petra

David Kennedy and Hani Falahat
Inzoduction

The rolling hills east of Pelra offer relatively good soils and adequate precipilation for
rainfall fareing. The vaileys and hililops are studded with the remains of ancient ruins, many
dated to the consecutive Nabataean, Roman, and Umayyad periods (300 BC A.D. 750). Espe-
cially important are the perennial springs, an artraction for ancient pastoralists, farmers and
travellers. One of the most important of these lies ©.15 km due east of Petra (.12 km Irom Wadi
Musa} beside the small Wadi Udruh {Abudanh 2007, esp. 487, fig. 2}, at a height of £.1300 m.
Beyond Ldruh the landform is flatter and progressively mare arid, increasingly reliant on
man-made harvesling of water in reservoirs. The effect is lo give a still greater significance to
the Udruh spring lying on an environmental boundary {¢f. Abudanh 2007}

Surveyin the 19805 recorded over 200 new sites within an area of 800 km? (Kiilick 15864,
432; 1987h, 26); a more recent survey will bring much of this to faller atterition {Abudanh 2004;
2006; 2007, Although most sites lie west of Udruh, it is clear that the pre-desert oo was
axploited, mosl notably in the Late Roman to Unavyad periods (€300 7500 There are traces of
at leazst 4 ganart systems {foggaral One is extensive, three main branches tapping water sources
beginning just 1 km ta the south and southeasl, then running eastwards for 2.3 km to jon up and,
it seems, run in a surface channel to the reserveir and ficld-system of Bicke! Udruh £3 km
farther east again (cf. Abuedanh 2007, 456-89, 492-93}. Even maore imnressive is the settloment
£10 km south-southeast of Udruh at Tahuna (also dfed in part by a ganat ta its west), about
hall-way to Ma'an (Kennedy 2004, 182-63; Keanedy and Bewiey 2004, 210-11), Throughout a
wide swathe of land between Udruh and Ma'an are to be found traces of channels, field-svstems
and areas of stone heaps and walls (including a section of lhe enigmalic Khatt Shebib: Ken-
nedy and Bewley 2004, 138-35). In short, there 15 extensive settlement west of Udruh, and more
isplated but still significant settlement eastwards towards and including Ma'an and the
complex of buildings, reservoirs, channels, walls and ficlds 1o its east {Genequand 2002, 2003;
Kennedy 200M, 184-B6).

LUidreh was a nodal point on ancient routes. One ran east from Petra, then southeast 1o the
major pasis at modern Ma'an. There il intersected with a3 N-5 toute running roughly on the
conrse of the modern Desert Lighway, The lalter oo is surely an ancien! route, marked in
places by a built read and by Roman milestones nearby (e.g.. those reported just north of Jurf ad-
Darawish and again just before Qal’al alliasa: Thomsen 1917, 57-58, nos 177-84; Findlater
2002, 140-41). It continued in the Islamic period as the deser| Hajlj road. Bevond Ma'an, ane
branch ran southeast into the Avabian peninsula (today it is another section of the Islamic Hayj
road). A second branch ran south, eventually joinivg a route matked by Roman milestones (the
Vin Mova Treiana) across the Hisma descrt and lhrough the narrow mountain valleys to
Agaba on the Bed Sea. This desert roule and its branches doublless follow pre-Roman trade
roules, A second route ran BN-5 past the Udruh spring il loo was probably a pre-Roman roule,
bul milestones and an inscribed altar beside U road north of Udruh confirm ils use as an im-
pertal Roman highway (Bninnow and von Domaszeweski 1904, vol. | 463; Thomsen 1917, 56, hos.
17273 Killick 1953k, 127} In short, there iz a dehinite Roman road tenning N=5 througzh
Udrnh, a probable Roman road passing from Petra to the Ma'an area, and a thizd probable one
passing from Lhe north through Ma‘an.

The modermn viliage of Udruh is growing but sUll modest, some &} houses in 2007, There 15 2
major Iron Age tower on Tell Udruh just 700 m 1o the east and an Ottoman{ 7} mill beside the wa-
di tg the southeast. The major ruins, which lie beside and parily beneath the modern village
(fig. 1}, consist of a large walled structure and rraces of other buildings, including a recently-
excavated early church just bevond the SW comer lower. The ruins cover an area of mare than 6
ha, In moedern imes Udrobo was {irst noted in 1812, in a single sentence, by Burckhardt {1827,
4443, and it was not unlil Wallin (1854, 137-28} stopped here in 1845 that we are given a
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